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MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND 	)
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION,	)
		)
		Petitioner,	)
			)
	vs.		)		No.  08-0610 MC
			)
MAURICE D. SHELTON, d/b/a	)
PLATINUM LIMOUSINE SERVICE,	)
			)
		Respondent.	)


DECISION

	We grant the motion for summary determination filed by the Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission (“the MHTC”).  Maurice D. Shelton d/b/a Platinum Limousine Service (“Shelton”) violated state law by engaging in the business of a common carrier without a permit and federal regulation by failing to record duty status as a driver.
Procedure
	On April 2, 2008, the MHTC filed a complaint against Shelton.  Although we served Shelton with our notice of complaint/notice of hearing and a copy of the complaint by certified mail on August 30, 2008, he failed to answer the complaint.  On November 6, 2008, the MHTC filed a motion for summary determination.  We gave Shelton until November 26, 2008, to respond, but he did not respond.

	We may decide this case without a hearing if any party establishes facts that entitle any party to a favorable decision and no party raises a genuine issue as to such facts.[footnoteRef:2]  The following facts as established by the MHTC are undisputed.[footnoteRef:3] [2: 	Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B)3.]  [3: 	The MHTC asks that we find Shelton in default and deem the allegations in its complaint admitted because Shelton never responded to it.  We find Shelton in default; however, our factual findings are also supported by evidence submitted by the MHTC in support of its motion for summary determination.] 

Findings of Fact

1. Shelton operates as a sole proprietorship and maintains his principal place of business at 8024 Ellerton Avenue, St. Louis, Missouri, 63114.
2. Shelton is in default because he failed to file an answer.
3. Shelton is a motor carrier, but does not operate under any certificate of authority or permit issued by the Missouri Department of Transportation (“MoDOT”).
4. On August 18, 2007, Shelton operated a motor vehicle, a 1996 Lincoln with a seating capacity of nine passengers, while transporting for $260 in compensation six passengers over the public highways in this state from Chesterfield to Ladue.
5. On September 2, 2007, Shelton operated a motor vehicle, a 1996 Lincoln with a seating capacity of nine passengers, while transporting for $60 in compensation two passengers over the public highways in this state from St. Louis to Berkeley.
6. Shelton did not have a permit issued by MoDOT’s Motor Carrier Services Division to engage in the business of a common carrier during the period of August 18, 2007, through September 2, 2007.
7. Shelton did not prepare a record of his duty status on August 18, 2007, for the transportation provided to passengers on that date.
8. Shelton has operated as a common carrier, but not under any certificate of authority or permit issued by MoDOT.

9. Shelton did not assert any exemptions under § 390.030.[footnoteRef:4]   [4: 	Statutory references are to RSMo Supp. 2007 unless otherwise noted.] 

Conclusions of Law
	We have jurisdiction to hear the MHTC’s complaint.[footnoteRef:5]  The MHTC has the burden of proving its case by “clear and satisfactory evidence.”[footnoteRef:6]  Our rules require the filing of an answer by Shelton.[footnoteRef:7]  We may on our own motion, or by motion of a party, order that Shelton is deemed to have admitted the facts pleaded in the complaint for failing to file an answer.[footnoteRef:8]  We find Shelton to be in default for failing to file an answer to the complaint and deem paragraphs 4 through 9, 11 and 13 of the complaint admitted. [footnoteRef:9]   [5: 	Section 621.040; § 622.320, RSMo 2000.  ]  [6: 	Section 622.350.]  [7: 	Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(1).]  [8: 	Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(7).]  [9: 	Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(1) and (7)(A) and (C).       ] 

On September 29, 2008, the MHTC served a request for admissions on Shelton.  Shelton did not respond.  Shelton’s failure to answer the request for admissions establishes the matters asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.[footnoteRef:10]  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting without an attorney.[footnoteRef:11]  Shelton’s deemed admissions provide undisputed facts.    [10: 	Supreme Court Rule 59.01, as applied to our proceedings by § 536.073.2, RSMo 2000, and 1 CSR 15-3.420(1); Killian Constr. Co. v. Tri-City Constr. Co., 693 S.W.2d 819, 827 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985); and Briggs v. King, 714 S.W.2d 694, 697 (Mo. App., W.D. 1986).  ]  [11: 	Research Hosp. v. Williams, 651 S.W.2d 667, 669 (Mo. App., W.D. 1983).  ] 

	On November 6, 2008, the MHTC filed a motion for summary determination and attached certified government records including signed statements of Shelton, an affidavit of a witness, and the request for admissions.  Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.440(3) provides that we 
may decide this case without a hearing if the MHTC establishes facts that (a) Shelton does not dispute and (b) entitle the MHTC to a favorable decision.    
Count I:  Violation of 49 CFR § 395.8 (Duty Status)
	The MHTC asserts that Shelton violated 49 CFR § 395.8(a) and § 307.400 on August 18, 2007.  


Section 307.400.1 provides:
It is unlawful for any person to operate any commercial motor vehicle as defined in Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 390.5, either singly or in combination with a trailer, as both vehicles are defined in Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 390.5, unless such vehicles are equipped and operated as required by Parts 390 through 397, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, as such regulations have been and may periodically be amended, whether intrastate transportation or interstate transportation.

(Emphasis added).  49 CFR 390.5 provides:

Commercial motor vehicle means any self-propelled or towed motor vehicle used on a highway in interstate commerce to transport passengers or property when the vehicle—

(1) Has a gross vehicle weight rating or gross combination weight rating, or gross vehicle weight or gross combination weight, of 4,536 kg (10,001 pounds) or more, whichever is greater[.]

*   *   *

For-hire motor carrier means a person engaged in the transportation of goods or passengers for compensation.

*   *   *

Motor carrier means a for-hire carrier or a private motor carrier.[[footnoteRef:12]] [12: 	Recent amendments to this regulation do not affect these definitions.] 


Because Shelton was hired to transport passengers, he was a motor carrier.
	Because the 1996 Lincoln was not used in interstate commerce, it was not a commercial motor vehicle under the federal definition.  But § 307.400.1 provides that vehicles must be equipped and operated as required by 49 CFR Parts 390 through 397, “whether intrastate transportation or interstate transportation.”  Sections 390.201 and 622.550[footnoteRef:13] authorize the MHTC to enforce the provisions of 49 CFR Parts 350 through 399 “as they apply to motor vehicles and drivers operating in interstate or intrastate commerce within this state[.]” [13: 	RSMo 2000.] 


	The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the legislature from the language used, to give effect to that intent if possible, and to consider words in the statute in their plain and ordinary meaning.[footnoteRef:14]  The thrust of the Missouri statutes is to place restrictions on vehicles in terms of equipment and operation.  This is no less a valid concern for vehicles that travel only within the state’s borders.  Despite the reference to a definition that would seem to apply only to interstate transportation, we believe that the legislature intended to give broad authority to enforce these federal regulations in both interstate and intrastate transportation.[footnoteRef:15]  Therefore, we determine whether Shelton violated § 307.400.1 by failing to equip or operate the 1996 Lincoln as required by federal law. [14: 	Maxwell v. Daviess County, 190 S.W.3d 606, 610 (Mo. App., W.D. 2006).  ]  [15: 	See our discussion in Missouri Highways and Trans. Comm’n v. Marti, No. 06-0167 MC (Dec. 22, 2006).] 

	49 CFR § 395.8(a) provides:    
Except for a private motor carrier of passengers (nonbusiness), every motor carrier shall require every driver used by the motor carrier to record his/her duty status for each 24 hour period using the methods prescribed in either paragraphs (a)(1) or (2) of this section.

Shelton did not keep records of duty status.  He violated 49 CFR § 395.8(a) on the occasion alleged in the complaint.  Because Shelton violated 49 CFR § 395.8(a), we conclude that the 
vehicle was not equipped and operated as required by Parts 390 through 397, and that Shelton violated § 307.400.1.
Count II:  Violation of § 390.051 (Common Carrier without Permit)
	The MHTC asserts that Shelton violated § 390.051 on August 18, 2007, and September 2, 2007.  
	Section 390.051.1[footnoteRef:16] provides: [16: 	RSMo 2000.] 

Except as otherwise provided in section 390.030, no person shall engage in the business of a common carrier in intrastate commerce 



on any public highway in this state unless there is in force with respect to such carrier a certificate issued by the division authorizing such operations.  

A common carrier is:
any person which holds itself out to the general public to engage in the transportation by motor vehicle of passengers or property for hire or compensation upon the public highways and airlines engaged in intrastate commerce[.[footnoteRef:17]] [17: 	Section 390.020(6).] 


The MHTC established that Shelton engaged in the business of a common carrier on two occasions without a certificate or appropriate permit issued by MoDOT.  Shelton does not qualify for any exemption under § 390.030 from the requirements of § 390.051.[footnoteRef:18]  On August 18, 2007, and September 2, 2007, Shelton engaged in the business of a common carrier in intrastate commerce on the public highways in this state by operating a commercial motor vehicle when Shelton did not have a permit as a common carrier, in violation of § 390.051.[footnoteRef:19]   [18: 	RSMo 2000.]  [19: 	RSMo 2000.] 

Summary
	Shelton has violated § 390.051 on two occasions and 49 CFR §395.8(a) pursuant to 
§ 307.400.1 on one occasion.  We grant the MHTC’s motion for summary determination and cancel the hearing.
	SO ORDERED on December 10, 2008.


		________________________________
		DOUGLAS M. OMMEN
		Commissioner
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